IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 80,416

BRYAN FREDRICK JENNINGS,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE EIGHTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR BREVARD COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

AMENDED INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LARRY HELM SPALDING Capital Collateral Representative Florida Bar No. 0125540

MARTIN J. MCCLAIN Chief Assistant CCR Florida Bar No. 0754773

SUSAN HUGINS ELSASS Assistant CCR Florida Bar No. 0854573

OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL REPRESENTATIVE 1533 South Monroe Street Tallahassee, FL 32301 (904) 487-4376

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND THE FACTS

The Circuit Court of the Eighteenth Judicial Circuit, in and for Brevard County, entered the judgment of conviction and sentence in this matter. Mr. Jennings was indicted on May 16, 1979, for first degree murder and related charges. A jury trial commenced before the Honorable Tom Waddell, Jr., on February 4, 1980, and concluded on February 11, 1980. Mr. Jennings was convicted of first degree murder and sentenced to death. On direct appeal, this Court vacated the judgment of conviction and sentence and ordered a new trial. Jennings v. State, 413 So. 2d 24 (Fla. 1982).

Mr. Jennings' second jury trial began before the Honorable Clarence T. Johnson, Jr., on July 13, 1982, and concluded on July 16, 1982. Mr. Jennings was convicted of first degree murder and sentenced to death. This Court affirmed the conviction and sentence. Jennings v. State, 453 So. 2d 1109 (Fla. 1984). On petition for writ of certiorari, the Supreme Court of the United States vacated the judgment and remanded the case to the Supreme Court of Florida. Jennings v. Florida, 470 U.S. 1002 (1985). This Court, in turn, remanded the case to the circuit court for a new trial. Jennings v. State, 473 So. 2d 204 (Fla. 1985).

Pursuant to a change of venue, Mr. Jennings' third jury trial began in Bay County, Florida, before the Honorable Charles M. Harris, on March 24, 1986, and concluded on March 27, 1986. Mr. Jennings was convicted of first degree murder and sentenced to death. On direct appeal, this Court affirmed. Jennings v.

<u>State</u>, 512 So. 2d 169 (Fla. 1987). Mr. Jennings' petition for writ of certiorari to the Supreme Court of the United States was denied on February 22, 1988. <u>Jennings v. Florida</u>, 484 U.S. 1079 (1988).

On May 11, 1988, Mr. Jennings applied for clemency. Clemency was denied and a death warrant was signed on August 29, 1989. Mr. Jennings filed a post-conviction motion to vacate on October 3, 1989. A state habeas corpus petition was also filed before this Court. The Honorable Charles M. Harris heard oral argument from the parties regarding the motion to vacate. At that time, the state conceded a discovery violation, but argued it was harmless. Judge Harris denied relief. Meanwhile, this Court had stayed the execution on the basis of the habeas petition. Mr. Jennings' motion for rehearing was denied January 24, 1990; on February 21, 1990, he appealed to this Court from the denial of his motion to vacate. On June 13, 1991, this Court denied Mr. Jennings' petition for state habeas and affirmed the denial of his motion to vacate, but remanded the case to the circuit court for public records disclosure. The Court also extended the Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850 two-year time limit so that Mr. Jennings would have the opportunity to file an amended motion if necessary. Jennings v. State, 583 So. 2d 316 (Fla. 1991).

In response to a state motion for <u>in camera</u> review of previously-withheld state attorney documents, the Honorable Charles M. Harris held a hearing on October 31, 1991 (PC-S. 235-251).; on November 18, 1991, some of the documents were disclosed

to Mr. Jennings' counsel. Mr. Jennings timely filed an amended motion to vacate on January 16, 1992. On March 5, 1992, the Honorable John Antoon, II, chief judge of the eighteenth judicial circuit, notified the parties that the Honorable Charles M. Harris would no longer be presiding in this cause (PC-S. 310-11). On March 20, 1992, the deputy clerk notified the parties that the Honorable Clarence T. Johnson, Jr., had been assigned to this case (PC-S. 312).

Judge Johnson held a hearing on June 23, 1992, on the public records issues, including still-withheld sheriff's files and files and records of the Florida Parole Commission (PC-S. 252-308). At that hearing, the court granted a motion for <u>in camera</u> review of the sheriff's files (PC-S. 275). On July 10, 1992, Judge Johnson entered his "Order Requiring Production," (PC-R. 169-170) directing the Parole Commission to 1) provide access to all of its files, or 2) object in writing no later than August 3, 1992. On July 21, 1992, the Parole Commission filed its "Response to Order Dated July 10, 1992," (PC-R. 185-203), stating that it had no objection to providing access and copies to files other than clemency files. On August 21, 1992, Judge Johnson entered his "Final Order on Motion to Produce," (PC-R. 210-212), ordering the Parole Commission to provide access to Mr. Jennings' counsel for all the documents in its possession that were not

clemency files, and denying access to clemency files.¹ Judge Johnson's August 21, 1992, order is the subject of this appeal.

INTRODUCTION

In the course of his post-conviction litigation, Mr. Jennings has sought access to and copies of public records that state agencies have used in his case. This Court returned his case to the circuit court specifically for public records disclosure. To date, Mr. Jennings has been given copies of certain documents, but he has not been provided access to the originals nor an opportunity to argue against claimed exemptions of other (unidentified) documents withheld by the Court.

Mr. Jennings is most concerned about the Parole Commission files for two reasons:

1) Documents in the possession of the Parole Commission have, in the past, been indispensable to the proper resolution of post-conviction claims. Recently, in <u>Scott v. Dugger</u>, 604 So. 2d 465 (Fla. 1992), this Court's order to vacate Mr. Scott's sentence was based upon a letter from the Honorable Susan Schaeffer to the Parole Commission. In <u>Mendyk v. State</u>, 592 So. 2d 1076 (Fla. 1992), the Honorable Richard Tombrink, Jr., wrote a letter to the Parole Commission stating that Mr. Mendyk was "an animal" and should be executed. Subsequently, as administrative judge, the court assigned himself to preside over Mr. Mendyk's

¹When Mr. Jennings' counsel attempted to comply with the court's order regarding all Parole Commission files that did not relate to clemency, she was advised--contrary to the representations made to and relied upon by the court--that the Parole Commission had no such files. (See Appendix A).

post-conviction proceedings, but recused himself on Mr. Mendyk's motion to disqualify when the letter was located and placed in the record.

2) In Mr. Jennings' case, documents in the file of the Department of Corrections indicate that the Honorable Charles M. Harris sent a letter, which Mr. Jennings is most anxious to see, to the Parole Commission. As of this date, Mr. Jennings has been unable to procure this letter.

At the hearing before the Honorable Clarence T. Johnson, Jr., on June 23, 1992, the State Attorney conceded that Mr. Jennings has a right to the Parole Commission files. (PC-S. 282; 284).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The circuit court erred in ordering that Florida Parole Commission clemency files are not governed by The Public Records Act. The Florida Parole Commission is a state agency, established by the legislature, and subject to the laws of Florida. State of Florida policy is that the public shall have access to all public records--unless specifically exempted by statute. The governor does not have authority to exempt Parole Commission records from Chapter 119. At any rate, disclosure of the Parole Commission files does not infringe upon the pardon power. Finally, the Rules of Executive Clemency were adopted in violation of the due process clause of the Florida Constitution.

ARGUMENT I

THE CIRCUIT COURT IMPROPERLY DENIED MR. JENNINGS' PUBLIC RECORDS REQUEST TO THE FLORIDA PAROLE COMMISSION. THE COMMISSION'S FILES ARE NOT EXEMPT FROM CHAPTER 119, FLA. STAT.

The order on appeal in this cause directs:

That all records of the Florida Parole Commission except the clemency file shall be made available for inspection by defendant within ten (10) days of the date of this Order.

and further directs that <u>Mendyk v. State</u>, 592 So. 2d 1076 (Fla. 1992), does not mandate disclosure of Parole Commission clemency files. (PC-R. 210). However, in <u>Mendyk</u>, the same counsel made the same request to the Parole Commission (<u>See</u> Appendix B), and this Court ordered disclosure under Chapter 119. 592 So. 2d at 1081.

This case presents the question: May an executive agency, established by and subject to law, ignore the tenets of Chapter 119, Fla. Stat., by relying upon discretionary executive branch rules, or is legal precedent directing that only the legislature make exemptions to the Public Records Act binding in this state?

There is no provision in Florida law exempting the Parole Commission from the requirements of Chapter 119, The Public Records Act. Yet, the Parole Commission has declared itself to be in a special position in Florida--a position in which it can sometimes be above the law (also known as "wearing two hats"). The Commission claims that it can avoid the requirements of Chapter 119 when it is assisting the governor in clemency

matters; however, the laws of Florida do not authorize such evasion. Chapter 119 contains no exemption for files related to clemency.

The Parole Commission argued to the circuit court that clemency is different, and therefore anything relating to clemency is not affected by Florida law (PC-R. 185-212). The Parole Commission is arguing for an implicit exemption to be read into an otherwise unambiguous statute. Mr. Jennings argues the requirements of Chapter 119 apply to the Parole Commission unless and until the legislature creates a specific exemption to that law; in other words, clemency is not the issue--public records are the issue. Currently, Chapter 119 does not exempt the legislatively created Parole Commission, nor the files of the Parole Commission relating to clemency, from the scope of Chapter 119. Mr. Jennings further argues neither the Parole Commission nor the Governor (or the Clemency Board) is above the law, and, even if clemency were the issue, Mr. Jennings is still entitled to all Parole Commission files.

A. CHAPTER 119--"A ROSE IS A ROSE IS A ROSE."

1. Public records are defined as:

[A]ll documents, papers, letters, maps, books, tapes, photographs, films, sound recordings or other material, regardless of physical form or characteristics, made or received pursuant to law or ordinance or in connection with the transaction of official business by any agency.

sec. 119.011, Fla. Stat. (1991).

This Court has clarified the definition of public records

as:

any material prepared in connection with official agency business which is intended to perpetuate, communicate, or formalize knowledge of some type...Inter-office memoranda and intra-office memoranda communicating information from one public employee to another or merely prepared for filing, even though not a part of an agency's later, formal public product, would nonetheless constitute public records inasmuch as they supply the final evidence of knowledge obtained in connection with the transaction of official business.

<u>State v. Kokal</u>, 562 So. 2d 324, 327 (Fla. 1990)(<u>citing Shevin v.</u> <u>Byron, Harless, Schaffer, Reid & Associates</u>, 379 So. 2d 633, 640 (Fla. 1980)).

Pursuant to these definitions, all Parole Commission files are public records.

2. There is no provision of Florida law that permits exemptions to be made to the Public Records Act by any branch of government other than by the legislature.

Several provisions of Chapter 119 substantiate Mr. Jennings' argument that <u>only the legislature may establish exemptions to</u> <u>Chapter 119</u>:

> a. It is the policy of this state that all state, county and municipal records shall at all times be open for a personal inspection by any person.

sec. 119.01, Fla. Stat. (1991).

 b. A person who has custody of a public record and who asserts that an exemption provided in subsection (3) or in a general or special law applies to a particular public record or part of such

record shall delete or excise from the record only that portion of the record with respect to which an exemption has been asserted and validly applies, and such person shall produce the remainder of such record for inspection and examination. If the person who has custody of a public record contends that the record or part of it is exempt from inspection and examination, he shall state the basis of the exemption which he contends is applicable to the record, including the statutory citation to an exemption created or afforded by statute, and if requested by the person seeking the right under this subsection to inspect, examine, or copy the record, he shall state in writing and with particularity the reasons for his conclusion that the record is exempt.

Sec. 119.07(2)(a), Fla. Stat. (1992 Supp).

c. An "exemption" is defined as a provision of the Florida Statutes which creates an exception to s. 119.01, s. 119.07(1), or s. 286.011 and which applies to the executive branch of state government or to local government, but shall not include any provision of a special or local law.

sec. 119.14(3)(c), Fla. Stat. (1991).

This Court has repeatedly held that Chapter 119 exemptions must be made by statute. <u>See Tribune Co. v. Cannella</u>, 458 So. 2d 1075 (Fla. 1984); <u>Rose v. D'Alessandro</u>, 380 So. 2d 419 (Fla. 1980). <u>See also Wait v. Florida Power & Light Co.</u>, 372 So. 2d 420, 424 (Fla. 1979) ("If the common law privileges are to be included as exemptions [to Chapter 119], it is up to the legislature, and not this Court, to amend the statute [and]...public policy considerations....should be addressed to the legislature.").

B. THE PAROLE COMMISSION.

Art. IV, sec. 8(c), Fla. Const. (1968) authorizes the legislature to create a parole commission; this provision is not self-executing. By its terms, Art. IV, sec. 8(c) does not authorize the legislature to give the parole commission any clemency duties.² The provision states:

> There may be created by law a parole and probation commission with power to supervise persons on probation and to grant paroles or conditional releases to persons under sentences for crime. The qualifications, method of selection and terms, not to exceed six years, of members of the commission shall be prescribed by law.

Id.

Because it is a state agency, the Florida Parole Commission is subject to legislative control. The terms of Chapter 119 specify this conclusion; and, this Court, construing the terms of Chapter 119, has said:

> We find that the definition of agency in section 119.01, while not intended to apply to the legislature, was intended to apply to <u>executive branch agencies and their officers</u> and to local governmental entities and their officers; the definition applies particularly to those entities over which the legislature has some means of legislative control,

²Despite the lack of specific constitutional authority, the legislature has passed several laws directing the Parole Commission to assist the Governor and Cabinet in clemency matters. Specifically, the statutes authorize the commission to **report** to the Clemency Board and to **appoint** a clemency coordinator. sec. 947.04(2)(d); 947.13(e). Notwithstanding appellee's contrary claims to the circuit court (PC-R. 187, 191), it has no duty to recommend clemency. Sec. 947.25, Fla. Stat., which authorized the commission to **make recommendations** on clemency to the Governor, was <u>repealed</u> by Ch. 88-122, sec. 66, Laws of Florida, eff. July 1, 1988.

including counties, municipalities, and school boards, and state agencies, bureaus, and <u>commissions</u>, and private business entities working for any of these public entities and officials.

Locke v. Hawkes, 595 So. 2d 32, 36 (Fla. 1992) (emphasis added).

Clearly then, the legislature created the Parole Commission and thus has "means of legislative control" by virtue of its power to define and/or limit the Parole Commission's authority. Under Locke, Chapter 119 applies to the Parole Commission. However, Chapter 119 contains no exemption for clemency files held by the Parole Commission.

C. CLEMENCY VS. CHAPTER 119.

The Parole Commission argued to the circuit court that because the clemency process is an executive branch function, it is outside the parameters of law, and any action taken in furtherance of the clemency process by a state agency (created by the legislature) is, likewise, outside the law. This Court has already ruled otherwise in <u>Dugger v. Williams</u>, 593 So. 2d 180 (Fla. 1991).

In <u>Williams</u>, the Court considered a similar matter, in the context of the <u>ex post facto</u> provision of the Florida Constitution. The Court held a statute directing the Department of Corrections to recommend a commutation of sentence, was not "a nullity because it impinges upon the executive clemency power," but was "entirely within the legislative prerogative, since DOC was <u>created by the legislature</u>." <u>Dugger v. Williams</u>, 593 So. 2d at 183 (citation omitted)(emphasis added). In other words, when

the legislature creates the agency (as it did the Parole Commission) that agency is required to follow Florida law--in this case, Chapter 119. Further, in <u>Williams</u>, the Court noted that although "clemency falls peculiarly within the prerogative of the executive branch....even the executive must exercise that power in a manner that comports with Florida's Declaration of Rights." <u>Williams</u>, 593 So. 2d at 183.³ Moreover, disclosure of the clemency files gathered by the Parole Commission does not infringe upon the executive scill retains full discretion, subject only to its own Rules of Executive Clemency and the State Constitution, to accept or reject [clemency]." 593 So. 2d at 183.

Mr. Jennings believes the intent of Florida's Public Records Act, and the recently-passed constitutional amendment,⁴ goes far beyond the constitutional fact that clemency is a prerogative of the executive branch. The notion that the executive may maintain

⁴To the extent that the new constitutional amendment conflicts with Article IV, sec. 8(a), the latter is supplanted.

When a newly adopted amendment does conflict with preexisting constitutional provisions, the new amendment necessarily supersedes the previous provisions.

Floridians Against Casino Takeover v. Let's Help Florida, 363 So. 2d 337, 341 (Fla. 1978).

³Although this Court has adopted "an extremely cautious approach in analyzing [clemency] questions," <u>Bundy v. State</u>, 497 So. 2d 1209, 1211 (Fla. 1986), it has not hesitated to perform its constitutional duties in interpreting clemency matters. Art. V., sec. 3, Fla. Const.

a secret file regarding someone set to be executed cannot be squared with the commitment by the people of Florida to openness of government records.

D. ARTICLE II, SEC. 3, FLA. CONST.

Because Florida law does not permit any exemptions to Chapter 119 except by statute, Mr. Jennings believes that Fla. R. Executive Clemency 15. E. is an unconstitutional attempt by the executive branch to thwart adoption by the legislative branch of the Public Records Act. That Act can be amended; however, the legislature must amend it.

Further, because the Parole Commission is a state agency, subject to Florida law, the Governor has no authority to exercise any powers over the Parole Commission absent specific <u>constitutional</u> provision. Art. II, sec. 3, Fla. Const.⁵ No constitutional provision exists which gives the Governor authority to override the provisions of the legislature regarding the Parole Commission--in clemency matters or in any other

(1) The Parole Commission, authorized by s.8(c), Art. IV, State Constitution of 1968, is continued and renamed the Parole Commission. The commission retains its powers, duties, and functions with respect to the granting and revoking of parole and shall exercise powers, duties, and functions relating to investigations of applications for clemency as directed by the Governor and the Cabinet.

This statutory provision, of course, does not apply to Mr. Jennings case, and, at any rate, does not provide any exemption from Chapter 119, nor authority under Art. II, sec. 3.

A new law went into effect January 1, 1993, which amends sec. 20.32, Fla. Stat., as follows:

regard. The Governor does not have constitutional authority to direct the Parole Commission to withhold public records, regardless of their form or content. If the Governor wishes to do so, he must obtain the appropriate legislation from the legislative branch.

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