FILED SID J. WHITE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

APR 1 1993

BRYAN FREDRICK JENNINGS,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 80,416

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE EIGHTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR BREVARD COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

KELLIE A. NIELAN
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Fla. Bar #618550
210 N. Palmetto Avenue
Suite 447
Daytona Beach, FL 32114
(904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

POINT 1: The right of appeal from a final judgment is prescribed by statute, and the review of nonfinal orders is controlled by court rule. There is no provision to appeal an interlocutory order entered during the course of a remand proceeding so the instant appeal should be dismissed.

POINT 2: Jennings' claim that he was denied access to Parole Commission records is not cognizable in a 3.850 proceeding and Jennings should be required to pursue his remedies through the methods set forth in the public records law. Further, the claim is now procedurally barred since Jennings never pursued this claim prior to the filing of his first post conviction motion. This court should reject Jennings attempt to present this issue in a successive, time barred motion that is well beyond the scope of this court's original remand.

POINT 3: Materials gathered by the Parole Commission pursuant to the Rules of Executive Clemency in connection with an application for or executive request regarding clemency are not subject to disclosure pursuant to chapter 119, Florida Statutes. The court is prohibited by the separation of powers doctrine from ordering the executive branch to submit to a legislative mandate and any such order would unconstitutionally infringe upon the exclusive power of the Executive.

ARGUMENT

POINT 1

THIS COURT IS WITHOUT JURISDICTION TO ENTERTAIN AN APPEAL FROM AN INTERLOCUTORY TRIAL COURT ORDER.

The right of appeal from a final judgment is prescribed by statute, and the review of nonfinal orders is controlled by court rule. State v. Pettis, 520 So. 2d 250 (Fla. 1988). Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.130 states that review of non-final orders in criminal cases is prescribed by rule 9.140. A review of this rule demonstrates that there is no provision for the appeal of an interlocutory order rendered during the course of a 3.850 remand proceeding. Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850 states:

An appeal may be taken to the appropriate appellate court from the order entered on the motion as from a final judgment on application for writ of habeas corpus.

The order appealed from in the instant case is not the "order entered on the motion", and since there is no right provided for appeal of this order, either statutory or by court rule, appellee submits that the instant appeal should be dismissed.

POINT 2

JENNINGS CLAIM THAT HE WAS IMPROPERLY DENIED ACCESS TO RECORDS OF THE FLORIDA PAROLE COMMISSION IS NOT COGNIZABLE IN A 3.850 PROCEEDING; EVEN IF THE CLAIM WERE COGNIZABLE IT IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED IN THE INSTANT PROCEEDING AND PRESENTS AN ISSUE WELL BEYOND THE SCOPE OF THIS COURT'S REMAND.

In its motion to dismiss the instant appeal, appellee requested this court to reconsider its holding in *Mendyk v. State*, 592 So. 2d 1076 (Fla. 1992), and again argued, as it had in *Mendyk*, that aside from State Attorney files, defendants should be required to pursue their records and remedies through Chapter 119, Florida Statutes. While this court denied appellee's motion to dismiss the instant appeal, it rendered an opinion three days later receding from *Mendyk*, specifically stating:

The State complains that some Hoffman's public record requests seek records from agencies that have had nothing to do with the judgment and whom the sentence and over attorney has no control. We agree that with respect to agencies outside the judicial circuit in which the case was tried and those within the circuit which connection with the have no attorney, requests for public records should be pursued under the procedure chapter 119, Florida outlined in Because those requests will Statutes. be made directly to such agencies, they be in a position to raise any defenses to the disclosure which they may deem applicable.

Hoffman v. State, 17 Fla. L. Weekly S741, 741-42 (Fla. December 10, 1992). Appellee contends that it is entitled to the benefit of the law at the time of appellate disposition, just as an appellant is entitled to such. See, State v. Castillo, 486 So. 2d 565

(Fla. 1986). The Florida Parole Commission is outside the jurisdiction where this case was tried and has no connection whatsoever with the state attorney, so Jennings should be required to pursue the procedures outlined in chapter 119, so that the Florida Parole Commission is in a position to defend its position throughout the course of the proceeding.

Appellee also contends that Jennings' claim that he entitled to his clemency file is procedurally barred in the Jennings never requested any records from instant proceeding. the Parole Commission prior to the filing of his first motion for post conviction relief. His attempt to do so at this point is time barred and barred as an attempt to file a successive motion. Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850; Spaziano v. State, 570 So. 2d 289 (Fla. 1990); Agan v. State, 560 So. 2d 222 (Fla. 1990); Demps v. State, 515 So. 2d 196 (Fla. 1987). This court remanded this case to the trial court for a limited purpose, and the state attorney diligently provided his files to Jennings. Jennings prolonged this proceeding for well over a year with the instant, untimely claim. This court should not permit him to manipulate these proceedings any further, and should find his claim procedurally barred.

POINT 3

CLEMENCY FILES ARE NOT SUBJECT TO THE PUBLIC RECORDS LAW AND ANY JUDICIAL ORDER REQUIRING THEIR DISCLOSURE WOULD VIOLATE THE SEPARATION OF POWERS DOCTRINE.

Jennings claims that the trial court improperly denied his public records request since the Florida Parole Commission's from Chapter 119, Florida Statutes. exempt files are not Appellee contends that such request was properly denied. As set forth in Point 2, Supra, the claim is procedurally barred. 2 Even if the claim were cognizable, Jennings would not be entitled the Materials gathered by the Parole Commission requested files. pursuant to the rules of executive clemency in connection with an application for or executive request regarding clemency are not subject to disclosure pursuant to Chapter 119, Florida Statutes. Further, the court is prohibited by the separation of powers doctrine from ordering the executive branch to submit to a legislative mandate and any such order would unconstitutionally infringe upon the exclusive power of the executive.

Article II, Section 3 of the Florida Constitution states:

SECTION 3. Branches of government.—The powers of the state government shall be divided into legislative, executive and judicial branches. No person belonging to one branch shall exercise any powers appertaining to either of the other branches unless expressly provided herein.

Where a trial court reaches the right result, even for the wrong reasons, the order should be affirmed. See Combs v. State, 436 So. 2d 93 (Fla. 1983).

This doctrine of separation of powers was explained in $Singleton \ v.$ $State, 38 \ Fla. 207, 21 \ So. 21 \ (1896), as follows:$

The legislative, executive, and judicial of the government are ordinate, each is independent of the others, and each is limited only by the state and federal constitutions. In the exercise of the powers of government them severally, assigned to the legislature, the executive the judiciary operate harmoniously but independently each of the others, and the action of any one of them in the lawful exercise of its own powers is not subject to control by either of the others.

In the distribution of the powers of government the framers of the constitution had the right to lodge the pardoning power where they saw proper in the departments of government.

21 So. at 22. The clemency power is described in Article IV, Section 8 of the Florida Constitution, which provides for the creation and authority of a Parole and Probation Commission (now the Florida Parole Commission), and states:

- (a) Except in cases of treason and in impeachment where results in cases conviction, the governor may, executive order filed with the secretary of state, suspend collection of fines forfeitures, grant reprieves exceeding sixty days, and with the approval of members of three the cabinet, grant full or conditional pardons, restore civil rights, commute punishment, and remit fines forfeitures for offenses.
- (b) In cases of treason the governor may grant reprieves until adjournment of the regular session of the legislature convening next after the conviction, at which session the legislature may grant a pardon or further reprieve; otherwise the sentence shall be executed.

(c) There may be created by law a parole and probation commission with power to supervise persons on probation and to grant paroles or conditional releases to persons under sentences for crime. The qualifications, method of selection and terms, not to exceed six years, of members of the commission shall be prescribed by law.

ji,

See also, Sullivan v. Askew, 348 So. 2d 312, 314 (Fla. 1977) ("[t]he clemency power, which is the power to suspend collection of fines and forfeitures, to grant reprieves, to grant full or conditional pardons, restore civil rights, commute punishments, and to remit fines and forfeitures for offenses, reposes exclusively in the Chief Executive"); Ex Parte White, 178 So. 876 (Fla. 1938); Spinkellink v. Wainwright, 578 F.2d 582 (5th Cir. 1978).

Section 947.13(e), Florida Statutes, provides for the Parole Commission, among other powers and duties, to have the power to perform the duty of:

(e) Reporting to the Board of Executive Clemency the circumstances, the criminal records, and the social, physical, mental, and psychiatric conditions and histories of persons under consideration by the board for pardon, commutation of sentence, or remission of fine, penalty, or forfeiture.

Based on these provisions, appellee contends that the Parole Commission, in fulfilling its duties to investigate, report and make recommendations to the Governor and Cabinet regarding clemency, acts as staff to and on behalf of the Executive under the constitutionally derived pardon power, and enjoys the same application of the separation of powers doctrine as the Executive. As such, its files pertaining to clemency are

not subject to disclosure under the public records law. Attorney General Opinion 86-50, May 30, 1986, speaks directly on point, providing that:

the Parole and Probation Commission is directed by the Governor and Cabinet, pursuant to Rule 15, Rules of Executive Clemency, to investigate, report and make recommendations to the Cabinet Governor and regarding application for clemency and is acting on behalf of the executive under the constitutionally derived pardon power commission's rather than the statutory parole authority, materials gathered in the court of carrying out the executive directive are not subject to the legislative mandate of Chapter 119, Florida Statutes, as such procedures fall with the ambit of the clemency power which is solely in the executive pursuant to 8. Article IV. Section State Constitution.

The opinion cites Turner v. Wainwright, 379 So. 2d 148 (Fla. 1st DCA 1980), affirmed 389 So. 2d 1181 (Fla. 1980), which held that the distinction between the executive's pardon power and its parole power is that the pardon power rests upon "self-executing constitutional provisions", by which

. . . the people of this state chose to vest sole, unrestricted, unlimited discretion exclusively in the executive in exercising this act of grace [Sullivan v. Askew, 348 So. 2d 312, 315 (Fla. 1977)]

The *Turner* court distinguished the parole power, stating that it is reposed only in "a parole or probation commission which may be created by law," and has been so created, but need not have been, and which is subject to all laws, substantive or procedural, addressed to it by the legislature. *Id.* at 154. The court agreed

with the Commission's argument that the legislative branch is without authority to prescribe either the occasion for exercising the pardon power or the manner and procedure for its exercise, citing Singleton, supra, where the court struck down an act which purported to grant a convicted felon clemency by restoring his competency to testify, forfeited in those days by conviction; Ex parte White, 131 Fla. 83, 178 So. 876 (1938), which nullified an act which purported to require commutation to a life prison term of any death sentence affirmed by an equally divided Supreme Court; In re Advisory Opinion of the Governor, 334 So. 2d 561 (Fla. 1976), which held that the Administrative Procedure Act of 1974 could not lawfully constrict the executive's clemency powers under Article IV, Section 8(a), of the 1968 Constitution; and, Sullivan v. Askew, 348 So. 2d 312 (Fla. 1977), which held that the clemency powers prescribed by Section 8(a) and (b) are not subject to constitutional due process strictures as interpreted and enforced by the judicial branch. From this the Turner court concluded that the open public meetings law, section 286.011, Florida Statutes, could not constitutionally be held to require compliance with the terms of the Sunshine Law by the Governor (even assuming he could "meet" with someone in the exercise of exclusive gubernatorial responsibilities), or by the Governor and Cabinet, in dispensing pardons and the other forms of clemency authorized by Article IV, Section 8(a), Constitution of Florida (1968). Turner at 151.

As noted in *Turner* and AGO 86-50, in *In re Advisory Opinion of the Governor*, 334 So. 2d 561 (Fla. 1976), the court considered the

applicability of the Administrative Procedures Act gubernatorial grants of executive clemency which, under Section 8(a), Article IV, State Constitution, require the approval of three members of the Cabinet. The opinion of the court was that the requirements of Chapter 120, Florida Statutes, did not apply to the exercise of the clemency powers conferred on the Governor or the members of the Cabinet by Section 8, Article IV of the state constitution. The exclusively constitutional nature of the executive clemency powers formed the basis on which the court relied to support its determination that Chapter 120, Florida Statutes, was not applicable to the exercise of these powers.

> No aspect of clemency powers exists by virtue of a legislative enactment, and These powers are "derived" none could. from the Constitution. exclusivity of the exercise of clemency powers by the executive branch further buttressed in the area under consideration by the procedural requirements of the Constitution itself. Where that document sufficiently for the manner prescribes rules exercise, legislative intervention into the manner of exercise is unwarranted. That is the situation here.

In re Advisory Opinion of the Governor, supra at 562. The court went on to conclude that the requirements of chapter 120, Florida Statutes (1975), did not apply to the exercise of the clemency powers conferred on the Governor or members of the Cabinet by Article IV, Section 8 of the florida constitution.

Consequently, the nature of the clemency power is constitutional and vested exclusively in the executive and the legislature is without authority to regulate the procedure or the

exercise of this power. The same principle of separation of powers applies to the judiciary regarding any attempts to intrude into the Executive clemency power. In sum, clemency files are part of the Executive's exercise of its constitutional pardon power and are not subject to legislative or judicial intrusion. The fact that the Commission was "created by law" does not in and of itself mean that all aspects of its duties are subject to As the Turner court stated, "any executive legislative control. Commission which may be 'created by law' may be created on conditions of obedience to laws not inconsistent with the Chapter 119, in any attempt to constitution." *Id.* at 154. require the Commission to produce its files acquired during the clemency process would violate the constitutional doctrine of separation of powers.

Further, the Board of Executive Clemency in the exclusive exercise of its constitutional authority has adopted Rules of Executive Clemency, which were most recently amended January 1, 1992. Rule 16 specifically provides:

Confidentiality of Records and 16. Due to the nature of the Documents. information presented to the Clemency all records Board, and documents generated and gathered in the clemency process as set forth in the Rules of Executive Clemency are confidential and shall made available not be inspection to any person except members of the Clemency Board and their staff. The Governor has the sole discretion to allow records and documents inspected or copies.

This rule provides for the confidentiality and disclosure of clemency files and documents. Any attempt by the legislature, to

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